ARGUMENT 

I. The Department of Corrections has exclusive 

authority to deduct Ortiz’s trust account funds at 

a 50 percent rate to pay his restitution obligation. 

 Ortiz contends that the Department’s authority to 

determine the rate at which it deducts his wages and other 

funds to pay his restitution debt is not exclusive. (Ortiz’s Sub. 

Br. 16; R. 27:3.) He is incorrect.1 

Ortiz begins by contending that the statutes cited by the 

Secretary do not support his position. For instance, he argues 

that Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1) does not specifically grant 

exclusive authority to the Department to set the rate at which 

it may deduct a prisoner’s funds to pay restitution. (Ortiz’s 

Sub. Br. 14.) That is correct, as far as it goes.2 But there is 

more to the story. That statute grants the Department 

general authority to control inmate trust account funds; they 

can be used “only under the direction and with the approval 

of the . . . warden” for payment of certain surcharges and “the 

benefit of the prisoner.” Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1). (See 

Appellant’s Br. 7–9.) That statute is relevant for context: it 

outlines the general authority.  

On top of that general authority, Wis. Stat. § 301.31 

specifically grants authority to the Department to set the 

rates at which it deducts inmate wages to pay court-ordered 

 

 1 Ortiz’s position mirrors that of the Dane County Circuit 

Court below. In the opening brief, the Secretary inadvertently 

referenced the Milwaukee County Circuit Court. (Appellant’s Br. 

5.) 

 2 Ortiz makes a similar argument about Wis. Stat.  

§ 303.06(2), (see Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 16), but the Secretary did not raise 

that specific law. Relatedly, Ortiz contends that Wis. Stat.  

§ 303.01(8)(a) does not support the Secretary’s position, (see Ortiz’s 

Sub. Br. 15–16, 18), but the Secretary did not reference that 

specific statutory provision, either. 

Case 2020AP001394 Substitute Reply Brief Filed 02-04-2022 Page 4 of 16



5 

obligations. (Appellant’s Br. 8; Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 15.) Under 

that law, the Department “may provide .  . . for the payment, 

either in full or ratably, of [prisoners’] obligations 

acknowledged by them in writing or which have been reduced 

to judgment by the allowance of moderate wages . . . .” Wis. 

Stat. § 301.31. Ortiz has no response to the Secretary’s 

argument that this provision indeed specifically grants to the 

Department the authority to set the rate at which it may 

deduct Ortiz’s trust account funds to ensure that his crime 

victim is made whole through restitution payments.   

 Instead, Ortiz points to language in Wis. Stat.  

§ 973.20(10)(a) permitting a sentencing court to order that 

restitution be “paid immediately, within a specified period or 

in specified installments.” He asserts that if courts have the 

authority to direct that restitution be paid in specified 

installments, “it would seem that the court necessarily has 

the authority to specify the amount and timing of each 

installment.” (Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 20 (quoting R. 27:5).) This 

assumption is incorrect. 

 As explained in the Secretary’s opening brief, the 

sentencing court’s general authority to order restitution 

payments in specified installments applies to all criminal 

defendants, while only the Department has specific authority 

“to take restitution from an inmate’s account at ‘an amount or 

a percentage the department determines is reasonable for 

payment to victims.’” State v. Williams, 2018 WI App 20, ¶ 2, 

380 Wis. 2d 440, 909 N.W.2d 177 (emphasis added); 

(Appellant’s Br. 8 n.3, 10, 15.) The Williams decision explicitly 

references the Department’s specific power to set reasonable 

percentage rates in restitution collection for defendant 

prisoners. That specific power applies here—what is at issue 

are percentage rates from prisoner accounts—not a circuit 

court’s general power to order “specified installments” for 

criminal defendants. There is no conflict between the two: the 

rate set by the Department is not an “installment” (in the 
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sense that a set dollar amount is paid at set intervals), but 

rather is a percentage applied to a given pool of inmate funds, 

whatever that pool of funds happens to be. That is not an 

“installment” payment.3  Indeed, at the time of sentencing, 

the criminal court would not know whether the defendant 

being ordered to prison will even receive prison wages or have 

any funds in his inmate trust account to properly order him 

to make regular “installment”—set dollar amount is paid at 

set intervals—payments. On the other hand, the Department 

will know when the prisoner has wages and some inmate 

trust account funds to enable it to set a percentage rate to pay 

the restitution debt. 

 Further, even if there is a tension between Wis. Stat.  

§ 301.31 (specifically addressing “ratably” and prisoners)  

and Wis. Stat. § 973.20(10)(a) (generally addressing 

“installments” and all criminal defendants), the more specific 

statute—Wis. Stat. § 301.31—would apply. See Clean Wis., 

Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of Wis., 2005 WI 93, ¶ 175, 282 Wis. 

2d 250, 700 N.W.2d 768 (“Where two statutes apply to the 

same subject, the more specific controls . . . .”). So, while Ortiz 

points to Wis. Stat. § 973.20(10)(a), this general circuit court 

authority is not the same as the specific authority of the 

Department to set the rate at which it must collect funds from 

a prisoner’s trust account to pay his restitution obligation. 

*** 

 Contrary to the circuit court’s and Ortiz’s position, a 

criminal sentencing court has no authority to limit the 

Department’s exclusive authority—based on statutes and 

 

 3 See Installment, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/installment (last visited Feb. 3, 2022) (“one 

of the parts into which a debt is divided when payment is made at 

intervals”). 
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case law—to deduct Ortiz’s trust account funds at a 

reasonable rate of 50 percent to pay his restitution obligation.  

 

II. The Department’s deduction does not conflict 

with Ortiz’s amended judgment of conviction.  

  Ortiz claims that his amended judgment of conviction 

and the Department’s action are in conflict (and the judgment 

wins). (Ortiz Sub. Br. 12.) As explained in the Secretary’s 

opening brief, he is incorrect—there is no conflict.  

 The amended judgment of conviction places a floor,4 not 

a ceiling, on the Department’s ability to set the deduction rate 

from Ortiz’s inmate trust account to pay his approximate 

$43,000 restitution obligation. It simply states: “Court 

ordered restitution to be paid from 25% of prison wages.”  

(A.-App. 108.) By deducting at a rate of 50 percent, the 

Department complies with the amended judgment of 

conviction’s directive to deduct 25 percent; it simply also 

exercises its authority to deduct more. The language of the 

amended judgment of conviction referencing 25 percent does 

not include limiting phrases, such as “no more than” or “up 

to.” (Appellant’s Br. 12–13.) Ortiz criticizes the Department’s 

argument, but the Legislature uses such limiting language in 

Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b), governing the situation where a 

circuit court can issue an order assigning “not more than 25 

percent of the defendant’s . . . wages . . . to the clerk of circuit 

court for payment of the unpaid fine, surcharge, costs, or 

fees.” Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b). The circuit court did not use 

 

 4 The Secretary need not take a position in this appeal, and 

the Court need not decide, whether the sentencing court may 

properly set that floor (i.e., directing the Department to deduct a 

minimum amount of inmate trust account funds to pay a 

restitution obligation). That is because, here, the Department’s 

deduction exceeded the floor set by the circuit court’s amended 

judgment of conviction.  
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this or any other limiting language, and so there was no cap 

on the rate of deduction.  

 Contrary to this, Ortiz asserts that the amended 

judgment of conviction ordered the Department to pay Ortiz’s 

restitution obligation “using no more than 25% of his wages,” 

(Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 12 (emphasis added)), but that is Ortiz’s 

invention.  The text of the amended judgment of conviction 

includes no such language. And neither does it contain the 

limiting word “only” preceding 25%; rather, Ortiz simply 

points to the word “from,” which connotes no limit on 

quantity, but rather just refers to the source of the funds.5 

(Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 13.) Consequently, the 25 percent rate in the 

amended judgment of conviction is the floor not the ceiling.  

  Relatedly, Ortiz argues that the language of the 

amended judgment of conviction also states that the exclusive 

source of the funds is prison wages. (Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 13.) But, 

again, this language merely directs that the Department 

deduct, at a minimum, 25 percent from Ortiz’s prison wages. 

This language does not expressly prohibit the Department 

from exercising its authority to deduct from other sources of 

funds, such as monetary gifts Ortiz receives. In fact, Ortiz’s 

reading conflicts with this Court’s holding that the 

Department has long had authority “to take restitution from 

an inmate’s account at ‘an amount or a percentage the 

department determines is reasonable for payment to 

victims.’” Williams, 380 Wis. 2d 440, ¶ 2 (emphasis 

added). The “account” includes everything in the standard 

inmate trust account—not just wages but also funds from 

gifts. Ortiz provides no persuasive reason why the sentencing 

court would (or could) place a limit on the source of Ortiz’s 

funds from which his victim could be made whole when case 

 

 5 See From, https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary

/from (last visited Feb. 3, 2022) (the word “from” indicates “the 

source”).  
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law and statutes applicable to the Department squarely 

permit it. (See also Appellant’s Br. 9–11, 13.) 

*** 
  Ortiz’s assertion that the Department’s deducting funds 

conflicts with his amended judgment of conviction is 

unpersuasive. The Department complies with the amended 

judgment of conviction’s directive to deduct 25 percent of his 

prison wages; it simply exercises its longstanding authority to 

deduct at a higher, yet reasonable, percentage rate from all 

his funds, to pay restitution to his victims at a faster pace. 

Wisconsin statutes and case law support the Department’s 

action. 

III. Ortiz’s remaining arguments are without merit. 

A. Whether certain language in the amended 

judgment of conviction is void is irrelevant. 

 Ortiz argues that the order in his amended judgment of 

conviction using language similar to Wis. Stat.  

§ 973.20(11)(c),6  which Act 355 created,7 is “void.” (Ortiz’s 

Sub. Br. 11.) He contends that this language was added by a 

clerk, not a judge, and therefore, under State v. Prihoda, 2000 

WI 123, ¶ 22, 239 Wis. 2d 244, 618 N.W.2d 857, that order is 

not a “judicial decision.” Consequently, he claims, the 

Secretary was wrong to rely on that language in the amended 

 

6 This language states: “If a defendant who is in a state 

prison or who is sentenced to a state prison is ordered to pay 

restitution, the court order shall require the defendant to authorize 

the department to collect, from the defendant’s wages and from 

other moneys held in the defendant’s prisoner’s account, an 

amount or a percentage the department determines is reasonable 

for payment to victims.” Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c). 
 

 7 Ortiz concedes that Secretary’s decision did not rely on 

2015 Wisconsin Act 355. (Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 6, 7.)  
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judgment of conviction. (Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 10–11.) This 

argument fails for three reasons.  

 First, Ortiz is not challenging the amended judgment of 

conviction. This is an appeal of a certiorari action of an agency 

official’s decision. Unsurprisingly, Ortiz cites no legal 

authority for the proposition that a certiorari court can hold a 

criminal sentencing court order void. 

 Second, Oritz cites for persuasive authority an 

unpublished opinion, State v. Justin R. White, No. 

2018AP0154-CR (Dec. 26, 2018) (per curiam), (Ortiz’s Sub. 

Brief 9–10 & 9 n.7; Ortiz Suppl. App. 101–107.) This is not 

proper. White is a per curiam, unpublished opinion of this 

Court, so it cannot be cited as authority (absent exceptions 

not relevant here). See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b). For this 

reason, the Secretary will not discuss it.8 

 Third, and regardless, this language in the amended 

judgment of conviction is irrelevant. As discussed, the source 

of the Department’s authority is statutory and confirmed by 

case law: it could already “collect, from the defendant’s wages 

and from other monies held in the defendant’s inmate 

account, an amount or a percentage which the department 

determines is reasonable for restitution of victims.” (R. 9:14 

(amended judgment of conviction), A.-App. 109.) See 

Williams, 380 Wis. 2d 440, ¶ 2. So, inclusion of this section 

973.20(11)(c)-type language in the amended judgment  

of conviction–and in the Secretary’s decision (Ortiz’s Sub.  

 

 8 Ortiz’s mistake may have resulted from his belief that 

White is “a one-judge opinion under Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2).” (Ortiz’s 

Sub. Br. 9 n.9.) None of the four types of cases under that 

subsection apply, and Ortiz does not specify which one he believes 

does. State v. Justin R. White, No. 2018AP0154-CR (Dec. 26, 

2018) (per curiam), is a per curiam decision, which Ortiz even 

acknowledges. (Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 9; Ortiz’s Suppl. App. 101.) 
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Br. 11)–does not matter.9 The Department had authority to 

begin deducting Ortiz’s inmate trust account funds at a 50 

percent rate, irrespective of that language in the amended 

judgment of conviction. 

B. Ortiz’s due process and arbitrariness 

arguments fail.  

 Ortiz makes two underdeveloped contentions at the end 

of his brief. Ortiz argues that, because the Secretary’s decision 

did not address the conflicting order in the amended judgment 

of conviction, this is a due process violation. (Ortiz’s Sub. Br. 

21–22.) Also, Ortiz contends that the Secretary’s decision is 

arbitrary because “[he] disregarded the circuit court’s clear 

directive to limit the diversion of Ortiz’s funds base on the 

boilerplate language in Form CR-212 (05/2016).” (Ortiz’s Sub. 

Br. 22 (citing R. 9:80, A.-App. 110).) These arguments go 

nowhere for two reasons.  

 First, the arguments cite no legal authority and are 

little more than statements. They are undeveloped arguments 

and, thus, this Court may disregard them. State v. Pettit, 171 

Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (“We may 

decline to review issues inadequately briefed.”) (“Arguments 

unsupported by references to legal authority will not be 

considered.”).  

 Second, as to the due process argument, as explained 

above, there is no conflict between the Department’s 50 

percent rate deduction and the amended judgment of 

conviction’s reference to a 25 percent rate deduction. Further, 

 

 9 To the extent the Secretary relied on that language, he did 

not solely rely on it. He incorporated a recommendation: “The 

attached Corrections Complaint Examiner’s recommendation to 

DISMISS this appeal is accepted as the decision of the Secretary.” 

(A.-App. 110.) Moreover, the Secretary’s ultimate order—

dismissing Ortiz’s appeal of his inmate complaint about the 

Department’s deduction—was correct. 
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Ortiz’s disagreement with that result is legal; it has nothing 

to do with due process-type proceedings. Likewise, as to the 

arbitrariness argument, it adds nothing to what is already 

discussed above—it is merely a relabeling of Ortiz’s 

disagreement with the outcome. 

 

IV. This Court should disregard Ortiz’s argument 

that DAI Policy 309.45.02 is an unpromulgated 

rule because it is not raised in his substitute brief 

and he did not commence a proper challenge 

against it. 

In his original brief,10 Ortiz asserted that the 

Department could not deduct his funds at a rate of 50 percent 

because that policy is an unpromulgated rule under ch. 227. 

(Ortiz’s Br. 12–15.) Not only is this argument not raised in his 

substitute brief—and so it is not properly before the Court—

but also it would clearly fail if it was. Ortiz did not properly 

commence such a challenge, as required by statute. 

 With a few enumerated exceptions, a Wis. Stat. 

§ 227.40(1) declaratory judgment proceeding is the exclusive 

way to challenge an agency rule or an alleged unpromulgated 

rule. See Mata v. DCF, 2014 WI App 69, ¶ 13, 354 Wis. 2d 486, 

849 N.W.2d 908 (requirements of Wis. Stat. § 227.40 apply to 

challenges that a policy is an unpromulgated rule). Apart 

from a declaratory judgment action under Wis. Stat. 

§ 227.40(1) itself, the validity of a rule may be challenged in 

 

 10 Ortiz purports to incorporate the arguments made in his 

original brief. (See Ortiz Sub. Br. 23.) However, because the Court 

ordered that Ortiz file a “substitute” response brief, that would 

appear to be procedurally improper. Further, the Secretary does 

not understand Ortiz to be incorporating all arguments made in 

his original brief, especially those that may be in tension with 

arguments now in his substitute brief. But for the sake of 

completeness, the above text responds to Ortiz’s original brief’s 

argument about rulemaking, (Ortiz Br. 12–15.) 

Case 2020AP001394 Substitute Reply Brief Filed 02-04-2022 Page 12 of 16



13 

other limited “judicial proceedings when material therein.” 

Wis. Stat. § 227.40(2). The Legislature provided a list of 

permissible judicial proceedings, but certiorari is not one of 

them. See Wis. Stat. § 227.40(2)(a)–(f). When the type of 

judicial proceeding is not listed in the statute, the validity of 

a rule still may be challenged, but only according to the 

statutory procedure in Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3). 

To challenge the validity of a rule in any proceeding not 

listed in Wis. Stat. § 227.40(2), like this one, Wis. Stat. 

§ 227.40(3) requires the challenger to seek “an order 

suspending the . . . proceeding until after a determination of 

the validity of the rule . . .  in an action for declaratory 

judgment under sub. (1).” Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(ag). Then, if 

the circuit court is satisfied that the validity of the rule is 

material to the issues of the case, “an order shall be entered 

staying the . . . proceeding until the rendition of a final 

declaratory judgment in proceedings to be instituted 

forthwith by the party asserting the invalidity.” Wis. Stat. 

§ 227.40(3)(ag). Further, “[u]pon entry of a final order in the 

declaratory judgment action, it shall be the duty of the party 

who asserts the invalidity of the rule . . . to formally advise 

the court of the outcome of the declaratory judgment action.” 

Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(b). “After the final disposition of the 

declaratory judgment action the court shall be bound by and 

apply the judgment so entered in the trial of the proceeding 

in which the invalidity of the rule or guidance document is 

asserted.” Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(b).  

Importantly, “[f]ailure to . . . prosecute the declaratory 

judgment action without undue delay shall preclude the party 

from asserting or maintaining that the rule . . . is invalid.” 

Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(c). 

 Here, the record is completely devoid of any showing 

that Ortiz prosecuted a Wis. Stat. § 227.40 rule challenge 

before the circuit court. Ortiz’s certiorari petition contains no 

allegation that the policy is invalid as an unpromulgated rule. 
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(R. 7:1–7.) Unsurprisingly, then, there is nothing in the circuit 

court record showing that Ortiz applied for an order 

suspending the certiorari action to allow him to commence a 

separate declaratory judgment challenge, that the circuit 

court suspended the certiorari action, or that any such 

judgment exists or was applied, as required under Wis. Stat. 

§ 227.40(3)(a). Thus, since Ortiz failed to prosecute a 

challenge to Department policy at the circuit court level, he is 

statutorily “preclude[ed] . . . from asserting or maintaining” 

that the policy is an unpromulgated rule on appeal. Wis. Stat. 

§ 227.40(3)(c).  

 Further, the claim would not be proper for another 

reason—it was not preserved administratively. Ortiz’s inmate 

complaint filed with the Department does not raise a 

challenge to Department policy.11 (R. 9:24–25.) As a result, his 

argument is not preserved. See Bunker v. LIRC, 2002 WI App 

216, ¶ 15, 257 Wis. 2d 255, 650 N.W.2d 864 (“It is settled law 

that to preserve an issue for judicial review, a party must 

raise it before the administrative agency.”),  

 This Court should disregard the rulemaking argument. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 11 Although Ortiz’s original brief did not explicitly reference 

what “policy” he attempts to challenge, the Secretary understands 

DAI Policy 309.45.02 (R. 9:30–46) to be his focus. 

Case 2020AP001394 Substitute Reply Brief Filed 02-04-2022 Page 14 of 16



15 

CONCLUSION 

 Respondent-Appellant respectfully asks this Court to 

reverse the final order of the circuit court and thereby affirm 

the decision dismissing Petitioner-Respondent’s inmate 

complaint.