FILED 01-04-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP1394 - CR

VICTOR ORTIZ, JR.,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

KEVIN A. CARR,

Respondent-Appellant.

Appeal From a Final Order of the Dane County Circuit Court, the Honorable Peter C. Anderson, Presiding.

REPLACEMENT BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JASON D. LUCZAK State Bar No. 1070883 iluczak@grgblaw.com

JORGE R. FRAGOSO State Bar No. 1089114 jfragoso@grgblaw.com

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent.

GIMBEL, REILLY, GUERIN & BROWN, L.L.P. 330 East Kilbourne Avenue, Suite 1170 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 414-271-1440

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The Department did not act within its authority when it removed a larger percentage of funds from Ortiz's inmate trust account than the judgment of conviction allowed.
 - A. Legal principles.
 - 1. Standard of certiorari review.

On certiorari review, this court reviews the decision of the agency, not the decision of the trial court. *State ex rel. Marlovic v. Litscher*, 2018 WI App 44, , ¶ 9, 383 Wis. 2d 576, 916 N.W.2d 202. "Certiorari is limited to review of the record brought up by the writ" *State ex rel. Richards v. Leili*, 175 Wis. 2d 446, 455, 499

N.W.2d 276 (Ct. App. 1993) (citation omitted). On review, this Court may only consider whether: (1) the agency stayed within its jurisdiction, (2) it acted according to law, (3) its action was arbitrary, oppressive or unreasonable, and represented the agency's will and not its judgment, and (4) the evidence was such that the agency might reasonably make the determination in question. *State ex rel. Greer v. Wiedenhoeft*, 2014 WI 19, ¶ 36, 353 Wis. 2d 307, 845 N.W.2d 373. Whether the agency kept within its jurisdiction and acted according to law are questions that this Court reviews de novo, without deference to the agency or the circuit court. *Id.*; *State ex rel. Curtis v. Litscher*, 2002 WI App 172, ¶ 10, 256 Wis. 2d 787, 650 N.W.2d 43.

2. The amendments of Act 355 do not apply to Ortiz's case.

Both parties agree that the Secretary's decision does not rely on the amendments of Act 355. (Appellant's Br. at 8, n. 3). Rather, Appellant claims that the statutory amendment is irrelevant because it merely codified the holdings of *Greene*³ and *Baker*⁴ "by specifically authorizing the Department to take restitution from an

³ State v. Greene, 2008 WI App 100, 313 Wis. 2d 211, 756 N.W.2d 411.

⁴ State v. Baker, 2001 WI App 100, 243 Wis. 2d 77, 626 N.W.2d 862.

inmate's account at 'an amount or a percentage the Department determines is reasonable for payment to victims." (*Id.* (*quoting State v. Williams*, 2018 WI App 20, ¶ 2, 380 Wis. 2d 440, 442, 909 N.W.2d 17)(internal quotations omitted)). Ortiz disagrees with the Department's interpretation but agrees that the Secretary's decision did not rely on Act 355.

Similarly, the discussion surrounding restitution in *State ex rel. Marlovic v. Litscher*, 2018 WI App 44, 383 Wis. 2d 576, 916 N.W.2d 202, relies on the 1995 version of the restitution statute because that was the year Marlovic was sentenced, even though he completed his sentence in 2002 and the case was decided by the court of appeals in 2018. Thus, the text on which this court's opinion must rely are the versions of Wis. Stat. §§ 301.32(1) and 973.20(11) that predate Act 355. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 301.32(1) and 973.20(11) (2013-2014).5

3. The order in the JOC directing the Department to determine the rate of diversion from Ortiz's account is void because it is a judicial decision that was not directed by the court.

The original judgment of conviction, filed shortly after sentencing on September 2, 2010, had only one

⁵ All citations to the Wisconsin Statutes will be to the most recent biennial publication, 2019-2020, unless otherwise noted.

7

_

order pertaining to restitution and ordered restitution as follows: "\$360.00 to Danielle M.; 4400.00 to Evan O.; and \$43,017.00 to the Crime Victim Compensation Fund." (R. 9:8, 10). The amended judgment of conviction, filed on December 14, 2016, included the same order listed above and stated, "Court ordered restitution to be paid from 25% of prison wages and as a condition of Extended Supervision. Any amounts of restitution not paid shall be converted to a civil judgment as ordered by the sentencing judge." (R. 9:12, 14).

However, the amended judgment of conviction was printed on a modified version of Form CR-212 that was created in May 2016; this was after Act 355 was enacted but before it went into effect.⁶ (*Id.*). The post-Act 355 version of Form CR-212 includes the following boilerplate language on the second page:

If the defendant is in or is sentenced to state prison and is ordered to pay restitution, IT IS ORDERED that the defendant authorize the department to collect, from the defendant's wages and from other monies held in the defendant's inmate account, an amount or a percentage which the department determines is reasonable for restitution to victims.

If the defendant is placed on probation or released to extended supervision, IT IS ORDERED that the defendant pay supervision fees as determined by the Department of Corrections.

(R. 9:12, 14).

 $^{^6}$ See the date on the bottom left corner of the form. (9:12, 14).

Act 355 was enacted.

Case 2020AP001394

This language tracks the language of Wis. Stat.§ 973.20 as amended by Act 355, which authorizes the Department "to collect, from the defendant's wages and from other moneys held in the defendant's prisoner's account, an amount or a percentage the department determines is reasonable for payment to victims." Wis. Stat.§ 973.20(11)(c). All parties agree that Act 355 does not apply to this case because Ortiz was sentenced before

This court addressed a very similar situation in State v. Justin R. White, No. 2018AP0154—CR, slip op. (Dec. 26, 2018)(per curiam)(R. App. 101-07).7 White was sentenced in 2014, before Act 355 was passed. White, ¶ 7 (R. App. 104-05). The sentencing court ordered him to pay restitution "from prison funds not to exceed 25%." White, ¶ 2 (R. App. 102-03). After a successful appeal, the court of appeals remanded to the circuit court with instructions to amended judgment of enter an conviction. *Id.* In addition to the changes ordered by the court of appeals, the judgment of conviction included language from Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c), which was enacted after his sentencing as part of Act 355:

⁷ This is a one-judge opinion under Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2). It is cited for persuasive rather than precedential value and is not binding on this court; the court "need not distinguish or otherwise discuss" it, and Appellant "has no duty to research or cite it." Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b).

The amended judgment, however, also contained language not included in prior judgments or orders in this case. Specifically, the amended judgment mandated that White must authorize the Department [of Corrections to collect, from the defendant's wages and from other monies held in the defendant's inmate account, an amount or a percentage which the Department determines is reasonable for restitution to victims.

White, \P 3 (R. App. 103)(internal citations omitted).

In White, the parties conceded that the language at issue was not part of White's sentence was derived from Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c); the state conceded that Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c) "applies at sentencing" and was therefore inapplicable to White. *Id.*, ¶ 8 (R. App. 105). The court held that the mandate in question was a change that could be characterized as a judicial decision and could not be added by the clerk. Id., ¶ 7 (R. App. 104-05)(citing *State v. Prihoda*, 2000 WI 123, ¶ 22, 239 Wis. 2d 244, 618 N.W.2d 857). The court then remanded to the circuit court "with directions to correct the amended judgment either by removing the language derived from Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c), or, alternatively, by directing the office of the clerk of circuit court to remove the language." White, ¶ 9 (R. App. 106)(citing Prihoda, 239 Wis. 2d 244, ¶ 49).

In *Prihoda*, the Court reaffirmed the principle that "a clerk of circuit court may not change a written judgment of conviction when the change can be

characterized as a 'judicial decision.'" Prihoda, 212 Wis. 2d 859, ¶ 22. A judicial decision, though not strictly defined in the case law, is "a decision for a court rather than for a clerk." Id. Moreover, "a judicial decision includes the correction of a clerical error in the sentence portion of a written judgment of conviction." Id., ¶ 23. When a change is made to a judgment or order by a clerk and the change is not directed by any judge, the change is void. Id., ¶ 22.

The order directing the defendant to "authorize the department to collect, from the defendant's wages and from other monies held in the defendant's inmate account, an amount or a percentage which the department determines is reasonable for restitution to victims" is void. (R. 9:12, 14). The Secretary was wrong to rely on that portion of the judgment of conviction while disregarding the circuit court's express order to collect restitution "from 25% of prison wages and as a condition of Extended Supervision." (*Id.*).

The decision to add the mandate to the defendant to authorize the department to collect from his wages was not made by the court; it was a decision made by the clerk, either intentionally or unintentionally as a consequence of the newly printed post-Act 355 court Form CR-212. The controlling order is the one directing the Department to withdraw restitution payments "from

25% of prison wages and as a condition of Extended Supervision." (R. 9:12, 14).

4. The judgment of conviction ordered the Department to pay Ortiz's restitution obligation using no more than 25% of his wages and no gifted funds.

Appellant claims that the two orders on the judgment of conviction are not in conflict. Appellant argues that Respondent's "amended judgment of conviction directs the Department to deduct 25 percent of his prison wages to pay down his \$43,777 restitution obligation and does not set that percentage as a cap." (Appellant's Br. at 7). Appellant asks this court to affirm the Secretary's decision because "the Department's deduction of all funds from his inmate trust account at a rate of 50 percent complies with the court order and is otherwise lawful." (*Id.*).

The reading of the restitution order proposed by Appellant borders on the absurd. Act 355 increased the power of the Department to divert inmate funds toward the payment of restitution. The court could not have intended its order to be a floor rather a ceiling as Appellant contends; that would have been an unnecessary order since that was already the rate at

Filed 01-04-2022

which the funds were being deducted from Ortiz's inmate trust account.

Moreover, Appellant's interpretation of the circuit court's order is grammatically suspect. The judgment of conviction says that restitution is to be paid "from" 25% of prison wages. The word "from" limits the pool of available funds to "prison wages" generally and "25% of prison wages" specifically. This language clearly implies a ceiling. It cannot be read otherwise in good faith. The Department cannot deduct 50% of Ortiz's prison wages "from 25% of prison wages" because 50 is larger than 25.

The amended judgment of conviction limits the Department's power to divert Ortiz's funds for the payment of restitution. According to the judgment of conviction, the Department can use only 25% of Ortiz's prison wages—and no gifted funds—to pay restitution.

- В. This court must reverse the Secretary's dismissal of Ortiz's complaint.
 - The Department exceeded its 1. jurisdiction when it disregarded the circuit court's regarding order restitution.

Questions pertaining to the reach of the agency's jurisdiction require the court to engage in statutory interpretation, which the court reviews independently

but benefitting from the analysis of the trial court. State *ex rel. Rupinski v. Smith*, 2007 WI App 4, ¶ 13, 297 Wis. 2d 749, 728 N.W.2d 1 (internal citation omitted). Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute itself. Id., ¶ 14; see generally Kalal v. Dane County, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

> authority of Statutory the a. Department.

Appellant claims that the Department's jurisdiction over prisoner funds extends from the powers granted to it in Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1), which orders the Department to place into a trust account all money received by the institution for the benefit of the prisoner. The statute also restricts the purposes for which the money can be used and says it "may be used only under the direction and with the approval of the superintendent or warden." Id. The statute does not grant exclusive control over the money to the Department, nor does it say what the Department is to do if the Department's policies conflict with the court's judgment of conviction on any given case.

Appellant also points to Wis. Stat. § 301.31, which allows the Department to "provide for assistance of prisoners on their discharge; for the support of their families while the prisoners are in confinement; or for the payment, either in full or ratably, of their obligations."

Wis. Stat. § 301.31. The statute continues: "the funds arising from the wages shall be under the control of the officer in charge of the institution and shall be used for the benefit of the prisoner, the prisoner's family and other obligations specified in this section." *Id.* The term, "the benefit of the prisoner" includes the payment of restitution because "defendants benefit from being required to contribute toward making their victims whole." (Appellant's Br. at 10-11 (quoting *Marlovic*, 383 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 32)(internal quotation marks omitted)).

However, the *distribution* of the earnings is governed by three subsections, to wit, Wis. Stat. §§ 303.01(4) and (8) and 303.06(2). The first, Wis. Stat. § 303.01(4), directs that inmate wages should be "based on the productivity of the [inmates'] work" and allows the Department to pay "an incentive wage based on productivity," but the Department's power to set wages is limited; it is not allowed to change the rate schedule without the approval of the prison industries board. Wis. Stat. § 303.01(4). Even here, the Department does not have exclusive control over inmate wages.

Next, Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(a) grants the Department full control over how an inmate's earnings are spent "within the confines of the prison or institution." *Id.* (emphasis added). If the legislature intended to give the Department absolute control over an inmate's earnings, it would not have limited the

Department's power to the confines of the prison. Also of note, Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) states that the Department "may" distribute earnings for obligations "which have been reduced to judgment." Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) and (d).8 Restitution is an "obligation reduced to judgment" under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) and (d). *Baker*, 243 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 17 (holding that Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) gives the trial court the authority to order restitution be disbursed from prison wages because a judgment of conviction including an order to pay restitution is an obligation reduced to judgment that may be satisfied according to law). This grant of power paves the way for the Department to use Respondent's wages to pay his restitution debt but does not grant exclusive power to the Department to decide the rate at which the debt must be paid.

Finally, Wis. Stat. § 303.06(2) order the Department to "collect not less than 5 percent nor more than 20 percent of the gross wages of inmates" to be credited to the Crime Victim Compensation Fund under Wis. Stat. § 20.455(5)(i). This section applies only to inmates employed under Wis. Stat. § 303.01(2)(em), and it has no bearing on the issue before this court.

⁸ Although sub. (8)(b) excludes inmates or residents employed under sub. (2)(em), sub. (8)(d) makes the provision applicable to them as well. Wis. Stat. § 303.01(2)(em), (8)(b), and (d).

In sum, Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1) orders the Department to place an inmate's money in a trust account which can only be disbursed "under the direction and with the approval of the superintendent or warden" and only for the specific purposes enumerated in the statute. The money in this account includes prison wages, also called "earnings," that may only be disbursed for the "benefit of the prisoner" and for the payment of an inmate's "obligations," including restitution. Wis. Stat. § 301.31; see also *Marlovic*, 383 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 32. In addition, an inmate's earnings may be distributed by the Department for the payment of an obligation that has been reduced to judgment, including restitution. Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b) and (d); see also *Baker*, 243 Wis. 2d 77, ¶ 17. Appellant claims that "none of these aforementioned statutes imposes any limit on the amount or percentage rate that the Department can apply to collect funds from an inmate's trust account to pay court-ordered financial obligations, including restitution." (Appellant's Br. at 11)(emphasis added). "Thus," Appellant continues, "the Department has broad authority to deduct funds at any reasonable rate." (*Id.*).

> b. Statutory limitations the on Department.

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